IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

KHALID ALI PASHA, :

Appellant, :

vs. : Case No. SC08-1129

STATE OF FLORIDA, :

Appellee. :

:

APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT IN AND FOR HILLSBOROUGH COUNTY STATE OF FLORIDA

INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

JAMES MARION MOORMAN PUBLIC DEFENDER TENTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT

STEVEN L. BOLOTIN Assistant Public Defender FLORIDA BAR NUMBER 0236365

Public Defender's Office Polk County Courthouse P. O. Box 9000--Drawer PD Bartow, FL 33831 (863) 534-4200

ATTORNEYS FOR APPELLANT

TOPICAL

PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

Appellant, KHALID ALI PASHA, was the defendant in the trial court. In this brief, he will be referred to as appellant or by name. Appellee, the State of Florida, was the prosecution and will be referred to as the state. References to the record on appeal are by volume, followed by page number. References to the supplemental record are designated "SR", followed by volume and page number. All emphasis is supplied unless the contrary is indicated.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

[Facts relating to the denial of appellant's request for self-representation are set forth in Issue I, Parts C, D, and E].

Khalid Ali Pasha was charged by indictment in Hillsborough County with two counts of first degree murder in the deaths of his wife Robin Canady (age 43) and his stepdaughter Reneesha Singleton (age 20)(1/52-55;see 37/1522). The case proceeded to trial before Circuit Judge William Fuente and a jury in late October 2007, and appellant was convicted as charged on both counts (10/1925-26;42/2117). The circumstantial evidence presented by the state at trial is summarized in Judge Fuente's sentencing order as follows:

...on the evening of 23 August 2002 Khalid Ali Pasha drove his work van to the Aetna building in the Woodland Corporate Center, where victim Reneesha Singleton worked. Victim Robin Canady was also at that location to pick up her daughter Reneesha Singleton. Ms. Canady and Mr. Pasha had recently married.

Witnesses saw a black male go into the woods behind the Aetna building wearing a jump suit and boots, and then come out of the woods; they then saw him take off his white clothes, and observed he was wearing a white t-shirt covered with blood, carrying an object in his hands, possibly a knife. The witnesses saw him enter a van then drive away. The husband and wife witnesses were on the telephone with the 911 operator describing their observations.

The evidence further established that a deputy sheriff immediately stopped the described van, which Mr. Pasha was driving, and which was found to contain evidence of the crimes, including boots, a broken club, a knife with blood, gloves with blood, and the jump suit with blood.

The DNA evidence established that blood found on Mr. Pasha's face and on his pants was that of one of the

¹ The defense presented no evidence and appellant did not testify (41/1960-61,1971).

victims. The evidence also established that blood from both of the victims was found inside of their vehicle, on a water jug found in the immediate area, and on a boot, jumpsuit, and gloves seized from the Defendant's van.

The medical examiner's testimony established that Robin Canady received approximately 25 stab and blunt force injuries, and that Reneesha Singleton received approximately 27 stab and blunt force injuries. Each had her throat slit.

The State did not present evidence of an admission or confession by Mr. Pasha, and did not present evidence of motive.

(11/2140-41).

Following the penalty phase, the jury recommended the death penalty by a 7-5 vote as to each count (10/2000-01;44/2371-72). On May 30, 2008, Judge Fuente imposed two death sentences (11/2138-58). Three aggravating circumstances were found and given great weight or considerable (but less than great) weight: (1) previous conviction of a violent felony (based on the contemporaneous homicides); (2) especially heinous, atrocious, or cruel; and (3) under sentence of imprisonment (based on appellant's parole status)(11/2145-50). [The judge did not find the cold, calculated, and premeditated aggravating factor, although he had instructed the jury on it (11/2146-47)]. The mental mitigating factor of impaired capacity was found and given moderate weight, along with several nonstatutory mitigating factors which were also given moderate weight (11/2155-56).

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

Appellant's initial and renewed requests for selfrepresentation, made orally and in writing after his motion to
discharge his appointed lawyer Nick Sinardi were denied, were
timely and unequivocal. Since the <u>Faretta</u> inquiry conducted by the
trial court clearly established that appellant is literate,
competent, understanding, and fully capable of voluntarily waiving
his right to counsel (and nobody contended otherwise), the lower
court's denial of this constitutionally guaranteed right is <u>per se</u>
reversible error.

The trial court's denial of self-representation cannot be justified on a theory - - unsupported by the record - - that appellant was disruptive (to the contrary, he was repeatedly complimented for his good behavior and cordial demeanor even when the issues under discussion were vigorously contested); or that his request for self-representation was motivated by an intent to delay or manipulate the proceedings. Appellant was not requesting a continuance. Moreover, the record of the Nelson and Faretta hearings demonstrates that appellant had an obvious good faith basis for his dissatisfaction with Mr. Sinardi. Appellant adamantly maintained his innocence, and his goal was an acquittal at trial; while Mr. Sinardi insisted that the only viable strategy was to concede appellant's guilt of the lesser degree offense of second degree murder. Mr. Sinardi further stated in open court that he could not effectively represent appellant in any other

manner. Under these circumstances, while appellant did not have a right to replace Mr. Sinardi with substitute counsel (having failed to convince the trial judge in the <u>Nelson</u> hearing that Sinardi was providing ineffective assistance), he did - - under <u>Faretta</u> and the Sixth Amendment - - have the right to decline Sinardi's services and represent himself.

"An unwanted counsel 'represents' the defendant only through a tenuous and unacceptable legal fiction. Unless the accused has acquiesced in such representation, the defense presented is not the defense guaranteed by the Constitution, for, in a very real sense, it is not his defense." Faretta v.

California, 422 U.S. 806, 821 (1975) (emphasis in opinion). "The right to defend is personal. The defendant, and not his lawyer or the State, will bear the personal consequences of a conviction. It is the defendant, therefore, who must be free personally to decide whether in his particular case counsel is to his advantage. And although he may conduct his own defense ultimately to his own detriment, his choice must be honored out of 'that respect for the individual which is the lifeblood of the law.'" Faretta, 422 U.S. at 834.

Since the denial of this constitutionally guaranteed right impacts much more than the outcome of the trial, the erroneous denial of an accused's right to self-representation is <u>per se</u> reversible error; "[t]he right is either respected or denied; its deprivation cannot be harmless." <u>McKaskle v. Wiggins</u>, 465 U.S. 168,177 n.8 (1984).

ARGUMENT

ISSUE I

APPELLANT WAS WRONGFULLY DENIED HIS RIGHT TO SELF-REPRESENTATION GUARANTEED BY THE SIXTH AND FOURTEENTH AMENDMENTS TO THE UNITED STATES CONSTITUTION.

A. Introduction

Appellant's initial and renewed requests for self-representation, made orally and in writing after his motion to discharge his appointed lawyer Nick Sinardi were denied, were timely and unequivocal. Since the <u>Faretta</u> inquiry conducted by the trial court clearly established that appellant is literate, competent, understanding, and fully capable of voluntarily waiving his right to counsel (and nobody contended otherwise), the lower court's denial of this constitutionally guaranteed right is <u>per se</u> reversible error.

The trial court's denial of self-representation cannot be justified on a theory - - unsupported by the record - - that appellant was disruptive (to the contrary, he was repeatedly complimented for his good behavior and cordial demeanor even when the issues under discussion were vigorously contested); or that his request for self-representation was motivated by an intent to delay or manipulate the proceedings. Appellant made it clear that he was not requesting a continuance (and in any event the judge would not have been obligated to grant one). While it is true that appellant was pro se for a period of time during the pretrial

proceedings, he was continually chastised for his persistence in that decision, and was told that his severely limited access to materials and evidence was because of his <u>pro</u> <u>se</u> status; a lawyer would readily be able to obtain those things. Thus, when he finally relented and asked for counsel, he was simply doing what two successive judges (neither of whom was the judge who presided over the trial) had been urging him to do.

The lead attorney who was then appointed was Mr. Sinardi; and appellant's motivation for seeking to discharge Mr. Sinardi and (when that was denied) seeking to represent himself is absolutely clear on the record. Over the course of ten months - - and especially during and after Mr. Sinardi's third and last visit with appellant - - an irreconcilable rift developed between them, due to Sinardi's insistence that the only viable defense was to concede appellant's quilt of second degree murder, despite appellant's vehement objection to that strategy and his desire to maintain his innocence. During the Faretta hearing, immediately before the inquiry, Mr. Sinardi stated to the judge in appellant's presence that (1) he expected the evidence to be overwhelming to establish appellant's participation in the murders; (2) the only realistic hope was that the jury would accept a concession to second degree murder; (3) he did not believe he could effectively represent appellant in any other manner; and (4) he didn't think anyone could. Mr. Sinardi also cited caselaw holding that an attorney is not automatically ineffective for conceding guilt of a lesser degree murder (where the record does not expressly

establish the defendant's consent), and argued those cases to support his intention (which he ultimately did not follow through on)² to concede guilt of second degree murder <u>over appellant's</u> express and strenuous objection.

For purposes of this appeal, it doesn't matter whether Mr. Sinardi was right or wrong, whether his assessment of the case was sound or unsound, or whether appellant would have been wiser to accept his advice or not. Nor does it matter whether or not Mr. Sinardi's interpretation of the caselaw was correct. Appellant is not challenging the trial court's decision after the Nelson inquiry to deny the motion to replace Mr. Sinardi with substitute counsel. Instead, appellant is challenging the trial court's decision after the Faretta inquiry to deny appellant his right to represent himself at trial, when he clearly and unequivocally stated that he would prefer to do so rather than be represented by Mr. Sinardi. Appellant's obvious, rational, and legitimate motivation for wanting to exercise his right is perfectly clear on the record; there is simply no basis to conclude that he was trying to manipulate the system. The right to defend is personal; the defendant and not his lawyer will bear the consequences in the

² After the judge denied appellant's request for self-representation, Mr. Sinardi indicated that it remained his intention to proceed on a theory of second-degree murder notwithstanding appellant's vehement opposition. The judge and Sinardi agreed that the latter was "on the horns of a dilemma"; the judge also suggested that Sinardi might have to abide by appellant's refusal to concede guilt though "I can't advise you how to proceed" (29/475-79). Ultimately, Sinardi made no express concession of appellant's guilt (though he did make arguments to the jury which appellant believed undermined his defense)(see 41/2056-57;11/2022-25;45/2388-92).

event of a conviction; and the constitution does not permit a judge to force an unwanted lawyer on an accused. <u>Faretta v.</u> California, 422 U.S. 806 (1975).

B. <u>Constitutional Right of</u> Self-Representation - The Applicable Law

Based on this country's bedrock tradition of respect for personal autonomy, the Sixth and Fourteenth Amendments provide a constitutional right of self-representation; a defendant in a state criminal trial may proceed without counsel when he voluntarily and intelligently elects to do so, and the state may not force a lawyer upon him when he insists that he wants to conduct his own defense. <u>Faretta v. California</u>, 422 U.S. 806 (1975). The <u>Faretta</u> Court emphasized that the Sixth Amendment (applied to the states through the Fourteenth):

speaks of the 'assistance' of counsel, and an assistant, however expert, is still an assistant. The language and spirit of the Sixth Amendment contemplate that counsel, like the other defense tools guaranteed by the Amendment, shall be an aid to a willing defendant-not an organ of the State interposed between an unwilling defendant and his right to defend himself personally. To thrust counsel upon the accused, against his considered wish, thus violates the logic of the Amendment. In such a case, counsel is not an assistant, but a master [footnote omitted], and the right to make a defense is stripped of the personal character upon which the Amendment insists. It is true that when a defendant chooses to have a lawyer manage and present his case, law and tradition may allocate to the counsel the power to make binding decisions of trial strategy in many areas. [Citations omitted]. This allocation can be justified, however, by the defendant's consent, at the outset, to accept counsel as his representative. An unwanted counsel 'represents' the defendant only through a tenuous and unacceptable legal fiction. Unless the accused has acquiesced in such representation, the defense presented is not the defense guaranteed him by

the Constitution, for, in a very real sense, it is not his defense.

422 U.S. at 820-21 (Emphasis on "his" in opinion).

...[I]t is one thing to hold that every defendant, rich or poor, has the right to the assistance of counsel, and quite another to say that a State may compel a defendant to accept a lawyer he does not want. The value of state-appointed counsel was not unappreciated by the Founders [footnote omitted], yet the notion of compulsory counsel was utterly foreign to them. And whatever else may be said of those who wrote the Bill of Rights, surely there can be no doubt that they understood the inestimable worth of free choice [footnote omitted].

It is undeniable that in most criminal prosecutions defendants could better defend with counsel's guidance than by their own unskilled efforts. But where the defendant will not voluntarily accept representation by counsel, the potential advantage of a lawyer's training and experience can be realized, if at all, only imperfectly. To force a lawyer on a defendant can only lead him to believe that the law contrives against him. Moreover, it is not inconceivable that in some rare instances, the defendant might in fact present his case more effectively by conducting his own defense. Personal liberties are not rooted in the law of averages. The right to defend is personal. The defendant, and not his lawyer or the State, will bear the personal consequences of a conviction. It is the defendant, therefore, who must be free personally to decide whether in his particular case counsel is to his advantage. And although he may conduct his own defense ultimately to his own detriment, his choice must be honored out of 'that respect for the individual which is the lifeblood of the law.' [Citation omitted].

422 U.S. at 833-34.

See <u>Tennis v. State</u>, 997 So.2d 375,377-78 (Fla. 2008);

<u>Hernandez-Alberto v. State</u>, 889 So.2d 721,729 (Fla. 2004); <u>Potts</u>

<u>v. State</u>, 718 So.2d 757,759 (Fla. 1998); <u>State v. Bowen</u>, 698 So.2d 248,250 (Fla. 1997).

"The Founders believed that self-representation was a basic

right of a free people." Faretta, 422 U.S. at 830, n.39. See also Johnstone v. Kelly, 808 F.2d 214,218 (2nd Cir. 1986) ("The Sixth Amendment's right to self-representation reflects values of individual integrity, autonomy, and self-expression"); Chapman v. United States, 553 F.2d 886,891 (5th Cir. 1977) ("...[E]ach person is ultimately responsible for choosing his own fate, including his position before the law. A defendant has the moral right to stand alone in his hour of trial and to embrace the consequences of that course of action").

United States v. Tucker, 451 F.3d 1176,1180 (10th Cir. 2006) summarizes the requirements which a defendant must satisfy to properly invoke his constitutional right to represent himself: (1) his request must be clear and unequivocal; (2) the request must be timely and not for purposes of delay; and (3) he must be willing and able to abide by rules of procedure and courtroom protocol. The fourth requirement is placed upon the trial judge, who must then conduct a thorough inquiry to ensure that the defendant's waiver of the right to counsel is knowingly and intelligently made.

Florida law recognizes that when these requirements are met, a trial court's denial of a literate, competent, and understanding defendant's right to voluntary self-representation requires a new trial. State v. Bowen, 698 So.2d at 250-52; Kearse v. State, 858 So.2d 348,349 (Fla. 1st DCA 2003).

"Only an unequivocal assertion of the right to selfrepresentation will trigger the need for a Faretta inquiry."

Tennis v. State, 997 So.2d at 378, quoting State v. Craft, 685 So.2d 1292,1295 (Fla. 1996). "Such request must be made prior to the commencement of trial." Parker v. State, 423 So.2d 553,555 (Fla. 1^{st} DCA 1982); quoting Cappetta v. State, 204 So.2d 913,918 (Fla. 4th DCA 1967), rev'd on other grounds, 216 So.2d 749 (Fla. 1968). Within the meaning of the double jeopardy clause, a jury trial commences when the jury which will hear the case has been selected and sworn. Brannan v. State, 383 So.2d 234 (Fla. $1^{\rm st}$ DCA 1979); Perkins v. Graziano, 608 So.2d 532 (Fla. 5th DCA 1992). Accordingly, in Lyons v. State, 437 So.2d 711 (Fla. 1st DCA 1983), a defendant's request for self-representation was found to be untimely where it was "made...after the jury had been selected and sworn and as counsel were about to make their opening statements"; the appellate court distinguished the timely requests for selfrepresentation made in Kimble v. State, 429 So.2d 1369 (Fla. 3d DCA 1983) (defendant made his request "toward the close of the jury selection process") and Martin v. State, 434 So.2d 979 (Fla. 1st DCA 1983) (defendant's request was made on the morning of trial and after the jury had been selected but not yet sworn).

See also <u>Fleck v. State</u>, 956 So.2d 548 (Fla. 2d DCA 2007)(reversing convictions for new trial due to trial court's erroneous denial of self-representation, where request was made after the jury had been selected but before the jury was sworn), and compare <u>Thomas v. State</u>, 958 So.2d 995 (Fla. 5th DCA 2007) (citing <u>Lyons</u>, and finding defendant's request for self-representation untimely where it was made during the trial, after

the state had rested its case and after defendant had testified);

Chapman v. United States, 553 F.2d 886,893-95 (5th Cir. 1977)

(holding that a request for self-representation is timely if made before the jury which will try the case has been selected and sworn; a defendant must have a "last clear chance to assert his constitutional right" and "[i]f there must be a point beyond which [he] forfeits the unqualified right to defend pro se, that point should not come before meaningful trial proceedings have been commenced").

In determining whether the defendant has met the requirement of unequivocally asserting his intention to waive counsel and represent himself, it is not necessary that he assert on principle that he would rather be his own lawyer than be represented by any lawyer in the world. Many, if not most, self-representation requests are precipitated by the client's extreme dissatisfaction with the particular appointed lawyer he has, coupled with the knowledge (imparted by the trial judge) that absent a showing of ineffective assistance he has no legal right to a different lawyer. As recognized in <u>Buhl v. Cooksey</u>, 233 F.3d 783,794 (3rd Cir. 2000):

Buhl's motivation for waiving counsel was not the issue. Common sense suggests (and experience confirms) that nearly every request to proceed pro-se will be based upon a defendant's dissatisfaction with counsel. It is the rare defendant who will ask to proceed pro-se even though he/she is thoroughly delighted with counsel's representation, ability, and preparation. Therefore, it should come as no surprise that Buhl's request was motivated by his dissatisfaction with defense counsel. However, a defendant's constitutional right of self-representation is not automatically negated by his/her motivation for asserting it. [Footnote omitted].

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