IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

KHALID ALI PASHA,

Appellant,

v.

CASE NO. SC08-1129 L.T. No. 02-CF-013748

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF THE THIRTEENTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT, IN AND FOR HILLSBOROUGH COUNTY, FLORIDA

_____/

ANSWER BRIEF OF APPELLEE

BILL McCOLLUM ATTORNEY GENERAL

SCOTT A. BROWNE ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL Florida Bar No. 0802743 Concourse Center 4 3507 East Frontage Road, Suite 200 Tampa, Florida 33607-7013 Telephone: (813) 287-7910 Facsimile: (813) 281-5501

COUNSEL FOR APPELLEE

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

Appellant's counsel attempts to minimize the history of Pasha's gamesmanship on the issue of counsel by suggesting Pasha was chastised or browbeaten into finally requesting counsel after his earlier election to proceed pro se. (Appellant's Brief at 55). However, an examination of the record establishes that the court and the State bent over backward to facilitate Pasha as pro se counsel.¹⁴ The court properly advised Pasha he was at a disadvantage because he chose to represent himself and did repeatedly renew the offer of counsel. When it finally appeared Pasha was running out of time and would have to go to trial on his own, Pasha requested assistance of counsel, knowing full well his election would serve to delay his case.

Pasha's reliance upon <u>Fleck v. State</u>, 956 So. 2d 548 (Fla. 2d DCA 2007) and <u>Lyons v. State</u>, 437 So. 2d 711 (Fla. 1st DCA 1983) is misplaced. Those cases did not address a defendant like Pasha who had fired, or attempted to fire every single competent attorney who had represented him. After firing two sets of attorneys, Pasha elected to proceed pro se, represented

¹⁴ The only restriction on Pasha which was a point of contention was Pasha's desire to have all boxes of material [4 or 5] at the same time. For safety and security, jail policy only allowed inmates to have one box of material at a time. The jail was not going to change its policy for Pasha, who had been found with contraband in his cell, including a razor, and, who had previously escaped or attempted to escape from an Indiana prison. (SV-10, 304-05, 321, 331)

himself for two years, then, requested and received yet another pair of experienced capital litigators, only to attempt to fire lead counsel on the eve of trial. Again, Pasha's tactics had already delayed his trial for <u>five years</u> from the date of his indictment.

The Second District in <u>Fleck</u> found it dispositive that the trial court did not find, nor, did the record support any suggestion the defendant was seeking to delay or disrupt his case. The Fleck court stated:

We cannot agree with the State's argument. The trial court made no finding that Fleck was improperly attempting to delay and frustrate the proceedings, and it does not appear that Fleck had engaged in previous behavior designed to do so. Further, his responses to the trial court's questions as to his desire to selfrepresent do not support such a conclusion.

<u>Fleck</u>, 956 So. 2d at 550 (emphasis added). That situation stands in stark contrast to this case, where the court specifically found Pasha was not sincere in his request and was simply seeking to delay the proceedings, a finding which has ample support in the record.

Potential jurors had been sworn and had been subject to extensive voir dire examination by Pasha's defense attorneys and the prosecutor at the time Pasha made his request to represent himself. <u>See United States v. Walker</u>, 142 F.3d 103, 109 (2d Cir. 1998)(the defendant's request for self-representation was

untimely although he made it before empaneling of the jury because he asserted the request after nineteen days of voir dire). Pasha's attempt to explain or excuse his delay in seeking to discharge counsel and proceed pro se based upon a difference in strategy which only occurred close to trial is less than convincing on this record. Indeed, Pasha's first letter seeking to fire the experienced public defender assigned to his case in October of 2003, raised a similar complaint: "4. Counsel of record have made accusations to me that they believe that Petitioner is guilty, while stating that he had not reviewed all of the discovery; 5. Petitioner, believe that with such a negative mind set, it would be impossible for Counsel of Record, Mr. Kenneth Littman to put forth a serious defensive endeavor." (V1, 197). Thus, rather than a legitimate last minute difference in strategy, it seems that Pasha was simply engaging in a similar complaint that his attorney did not believe in his innocence in a ploy to obtain substitute counsel and indefinitely delay his trial.¹⁵ See State v. Young, 626 So. 2d 655, 657 (Fla. 1993)(while finding the court erred in not conducting a Faretta inquiry, this Court stated: "Our cases make clear that a trial judge is not compelled to allow a

¹⁵ Ultimately, Pasha acquiesced to representation by counsel and was observed assisting counsel during the trial. (V36, 1375-1376).

defendant to delay and continually frustrate his trial."); <u>U.S.</u> <u>v. Frazier-El</u>, 204 F.3d 553, 560 (4th Cir. 2000)(defendant's motion to proceed pro se properly denied because defendant's waiver of counsel was a tactic for delay and an attempt to manipulate the system).

Once again, Pasha was in an untenable legal situation. Pasha, as more than one judge assigned to this case had opined, may have viewed delay as his best and only tactic of defense to these capital murder charges. Under these circumstances, Pasha's demand, made after more than two days of jury selection, was abusive, dilatory and properly denied. See United States v. Edelman, 458 F.3d 791, 809 (8th Cir. 2006)(no abuse of discretion in denying defendant right to represent himself when request was made five days before start of scheduled trial and was done to delay or disrupt trial); Hirschfield v. Payne, 420 F.3d 922, 927 (9th Cir. 2005)(state court ruling denying selfrepresentation for defendant one day prior to trial was not unreasonable where defendant had moved several times to substitute counsel and every time he moved for a new attorney it was "close to trial.").

This Court has not specifically formulated a bright line in which a request for self-representation must be considered timely. Pasha urges this Court adopt a narrow rule, finding

timely any request made prior to the swearing and empanelment of the jury. However, Faretta v. California, 422 U.S. 806, 835, 95 S. Ct. 2525, 45 L.Ed.2d 562 (1975), does not compel or even suggest such a timeline as a matter of federal constitutional law. Faretta involved a defendant who "clearly and unequivocally" invoked his right to self-representation "weeks" prior to trial. See Marshall v. Taylor, 395 F.3d 1058, 1061 (9th Cir. 2005)("Because the Supreme Court has not clearly established when a Faretta request is untimely, other courts are free to do so as long as their standards comport with the Supreme Court's holding that a request 'weeks before trial' is timely."). The bright line suggested by Pasha ignores the realities of criminal litigation, and, capital litigation in particular, with complex cases, in which an accused is in no position to represent himself or herself, at the last minute prior to the jury being selected and empaneled. A trial judge should have discretion to deny a request for self-representation which comes at the veritable twelfth hour, as in this case, after two days of jury selection, immediately prior to the prosecutor and defense attorneys exercising cause and peremptory challenges.¹⁶ See United States v. Dunlap, 577 F.2d 867, 868

¹⁶ Pasha states that he exhibited exemplary behavior during trial. However, this is not entirely correct. The prosecutor was advised by his investigator that Pasha was "mouthing to her

(4th Cir. 1978)(a defendant does not have an absolute right to dismiss counsel and proceed pro se after trial has begun because of need "to minimize disruptions, to avoid inconvenience and delay, to maintain continuity, and to avoid confusing the jury"); <u>United States v. Lawrence</u>, 605 F.2d 1321 (4th Cir. 1979)(where defendant asserts right to self-representation after jury had been selected but not sworn, decision to allow defendant to proceed pro se rests in the sound discretion of trial court).

Meaningful trial proceedings have begun in this case where the jury panel had been sworn and extensive voir dire had been conducted through counsel. The Supreme Court has held that voir dire is "a critical stage of the criminal proceeding" and that trial "commences" when the work "of empanelling the jury begins." <u>Gomez v. United States</u>, 490 U.S. 858, 873, 109 S. Ct. 2237, 104 L.Ed.2d (1989)(citations omitted). While there is a split of authority among jurisdictions on the question of timeliness, in the State's view, the better policy is to vest a trial court with discretion to deny a day of trial request as

[Felicia, the daughter of victim Canady and sister of victim Singleton] on the witness stand, so I've asked the deputy to" - (V37, 1489). In fact, one juror brought this to the attention of the court and parties, noting that while Felicia was testifying, Pasha "was clenching his fist and you could really tell that he was making threatening comments to her and just - - it just made me uncomfortable. Both times he came up to - - he had his fists raised and clenched." (V37, 1493).

untimely.¹⁷ Indeed, this is the view followed by a number of jurisdictions, with several applying a reasonable time prior to See e.g. People v. Frierson, 53 Cal.3d 730, trial standard. 742, 808 P.2d 1197 (Cal. 1991)(applying a "reasonable time prior to trial" standard and finding defendant's request untimely where request was made "on the eve of trial over 10 months after counsel had been appointed."). See also United States v. Edelmann, 458 F.3d 791, 808-09 (8th Cir. 2006)(finding the trial court acted within its discretion in denying request for selfrepresentation in part because it was made four or five days before trial); United States v. Smith, 413 F.3d 1253, 1280-81 (10th Cir. 2005)(finding request for self-representation untimely when made six days before trial, trial had already been continued, and allowing self-representation would necessitate

¹⁷ As explained by the California Supreme Court in <u>People v.</u> <u>Jenkins</u>, 22 Cal.4th 900, 959, 997 P.2d 1044, 1085, 95 Cal.Rptr.2d 377, 422 (Cal. 2000):

^{...} When a motion for self-representation is not made timely fashion prior to trial, in а selfrepresentation no longer is a matter of right but is subject to the trial court's discretion." (People v. Bradford, supra, 15 Cal.4th at p. 1365, 65 Cal.Rptr.2d 145, 939 P.2d 259.) In exercising this discretion, the trial court should consider factors such as "'the quality of counsel's representation of the defendant, the defendant's prior proclivity to substitute counsel, the reasons for the request, the length and stage of the proceedings, and the disruption or delay which might reasonably be expected to follow the granting of such a motion.'" (emphasis added)(string cites omitted).

yet another continuance to give defendant time to prepare); <u>Robards v. Rees</u>, 789 F.2d 379, 384 (6th Cir. 1986)(request not timely where the "clerk had called the roll of jurors before Robards made his request for self-representation."); <u>Stenson v.</u> <u>Lambert</u>, 504 F.3d 873, 884 (9th Cir. 2007)(state court denial of motion for self-representation "made on the morning trial began as untimely was neither contrary to nor an unreasonable application of clearly established federal law...").

The Supreme Court of Minnesota determined that commencement of voir dire constituted the initiation of meaningful trial proceedings for the purpose of invoking the right to selfrepresentation and questioned the precedential value of those cases which find timely any request made prior to the swearing of the jury. <u>State v. Christian</u>, 657 N.W.2d 186, 192-93 (Minn. 2003). The court stated:

Although this latter line of cases suggests that "meaningful trial proceedings" do not occur until the jury is sworn, none of these cases actually involved a motion for self-representation that was made after jury selection had begun. Thus, their focus on jury empanelment is made in the abstract and, in our view, is based on an incomplete analysis. In fact, we have only found а single case dealing with a selfrepresentation motion that was made during jury voir dire and that case held that "meaningful trial proceedings" commenced with the beginning of jury selection. See Robards v. Rees, 789 F.2d 379, 382 (6th Cir.1986) (holding а self-representation request untimely where made after voir dire had begun, but before the jury had been empaneled). The court ruled the motion untimely and recognized the discretion of

the district court to deny it, stating that defendant Robards' self-representation request, if granted,

would have impermissibly delayed the commencement of the trial. The clerk had called the roll of jurors before Robards made his request for selfrepresentation. Had the request been granted, the trial judge would have been obliged to postpone the commencement of the trial for an extended period of time in order to allow Robards a sufficient amount of time to prepare his defense. It was within the discretion of the trial judge to deny Robards' request. His denial was not an discretion. abuse of Moreover, this Court believes that this denial by the state court was not tantamount to a constitutional violation.

Id. at 384.

We reached a similar conclusion in an analogous situation in State v. Worthy, 583 N.W.2d 270 (Minn.1998). In Worthy, two defendants expressed dissatisfaction with their court-appointed attorneys and moved for substitute counsel during jury voir dire. *Id.* at 274. We held that this motion was untimely, stating that it was made "on the morning of trial." Id. at 278-79.

We conclude that, for the purpose of applying the *Wesley* standard, trial begins at the commencement of jury voir dire. Thus, when a self-representation motion is made after jury voir dire begins, the district court must exercise its discretion to balance "the defendant's legitimate interests in representing himself and the potential disruption and possible delay of proceedings already in progress." *Wesley*, 798 F.2d at 1155-56.

Christian, 657 N.W.2d at 192.

In <u>Russell v. State</u>, 270 Ind. 55, 62-63, 383 N.E.2d 309, 314-15 (Ind. 1978), the Supreme Court of Indiana provided a

cogent analysis of its reasons for finding "morning of trial" requests untimely. The court stated, in part:

. . .We thus think that the defendant's right to counsel will be best respected if we require a pretrial assertion of the self-representation right, so that it can be the subject of a pre-trial hearing and inquiry. Finally, the orderly administration of the courts will be facilitated by such a requirement. Day of trial assertions of the self-representation right, whether before or after empaneling of the jury, disrupt the time schedules of judges, counsel, and potential jurors, all who have been assembled for the occasion, and who can be assembled only at the expense of extra time and money. The counsel waiver inquiry on the day of trial may also disrupt the time schedules of other matters on the court's schedule, which have been planned around the present trial.

Russell, 270 Ind. 55, at 62-63, 383 N.E.2d at 314-15.

In any case, even those jurisdictions which generally presume any request made prior to the swearing of the jury is timely allow the lower court to reject the assertion if it appears the demand is made to simply delay or disrupt the proceedings. For example, in <u>Chapman v. United States</u>, 553 F.2d 886 (5th Cir. 1977), the Court held that a defendant's right of self-representation is unqualified if the defendant asserts that right before the jury is empaneled, <u>absent any indication that</u> <u>the defendant is attempting to delay the proceedings</u>. <u>Chapman</u>, 553 F.2d at 895 ("Finally, there is no suggestion in the record that Chapman's assertion of his pro se right was designed to achieve delay or tactical advantage, that it would in fact have

resulted in any delay, or that the trial court denied Chapman's request on the assumption that it would result in delay."). Sub judice, the trial court made a finding that Pasha's request was dilatory. Consequently, the cases in which a defendant makes a good faith attempt to invoke the right to self-representation prior to the jury being sworn have no application here.

conclusion, the trial court was well within In its discretion to deny Pasha's request to proceed pro se when it was untimely, dilatory, and merely an extension of his earlier and baseless complaints about counsels' competence. See People v. Ruiz, 142 Cal.App.3d 780, 792, 191 Cal.Rptr. 249 (1983) (When a trial court exercises its discretion to deny a motion for selfrepresentation on the grounds it is untimely, a reviewing court must give "considerable weight" to the court's exercise of discretion and must examine the "total circumstances" confronting the court when the decision is made.). Under the unique circumstances confronting the court in this case, it cannot be said the trial court abused its discretion in denying Pasha's request to proceed pro se.

ISSUE II

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